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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

PENELOPE MINTER, ))
Plaintiff, ))
V. ; Civil Action No. 10-0516 CRQO
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, ))
Defendant. ))

)
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff PenelopéMinter, a longtime employee of the District of Columi@avernment,
contends that the District did not provide reasonable accommodation for her tyisabihe
form of a flexible work schedule or permission to work from home one to two days per week
and ultimatelyfired her for requesting these accommodatiomke District moves for summary
judgment, arguing thatlinter’s claims were not timely filed, Minter is notjaalified individual
with adisability under theelevantstatutes, and Minter has not produced sufficient evidence for
a reasonable jury to find that tinen-discriminatory reasoprovidedto justify the termination
was not the actual reason. Because the District successfully demonstraiattradid not fle
her claims within theprescribedime limits, is not aqualified individual with adisability under
the relevantaws, and has not provided sufficient evidence that the District’s reasotfsifgy
her were pretextualhe Courtwill grant its motionfor summaryjudgment.

l. Background

Becauséhe timeliness oMinter’s claimsis so central tahis casethe Court will provide

a detailed review of the chronology of events underpinning this litigation.
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For approximately 19 year®linter was employed a& social worker by variousgencies
of the government of the District of Columbia. Am. Compl. § 9. According to her Complaint,
Minter suffers from sarcoidosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and fiboromyaligiaf 10;seePl.’s
Opp'n, Ex. 5 at 5-8. Shedescribesarcoidosis and rheumatoid arthritis ‘chronic, systemic
inflammatory diseases that cause pain in the joints, lungs, lymph nodes and otb&r Aissu
Compl. 1 10. Fibromyalgia, she alleges,astiedical disorder characterized by chronic
widespread pain, debilitating fatigue, sleep disturbance and joint stiffnessMintér’s alleged
physical impairmentssubstantially limif] the major life activity of working,” such that she
deems herself a person with a disability for purposes of the Americans withlibesaBict
(“ADA”), seed2 U.S.C. § 1210&t sef Am. Compl § 5. These impairmentalso limit her
ability to sit, stand and walk. Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 150:2.

Over the years, plaintiff held positions in festrict's Child and Youth Services
Administration, the D.C. Mayor’s Youth Initiative Office, the Office of the Consimiser of
Social Services, the Youth Services Administration (“YSA”), and the OffitkeoChief
Medical Examiner (“OCME”).See generall{l.’s Opp’'n, Ex. 6 at 9-12.In at least some of
these positions, she had been allowed to nbeteeen a full time schedule and a reduced work

schedule- typically a 32-hour work week — when giteemed it necessargeeMinter Dep.

1 Exhibit 5 to plaintiff's opposition is filed under seal.

2 The Court notes at the outset that plairgifnts to evidence as to her diagnoses her

physical symptoms (such as pain, fatigue, and limited mobility) but does not provideidaposi
testmony or anyother evidence to linkerdiagnosesind symptomso her ability or inability to
perform her dutiesor how the accommodations she requested address or otherwise alleviate her
symptoms.

% Plaintiff was deposed on three days: September 18, 2012, November 13, 2012, and June 11,
2013. Both parties have attached excerpts from plaintiff's depositiorcti@rts their

respective submissions. The Court will refer to the transcriptsliaxer Dep.9/18/12) “Minter
Dep.11/13/12,” and “Minter Dep. 6/11/13.”

* Exhibit 6 to plaintiff’s opposition is filed under seal.
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9/18/12 at 26:14-27:14, 28:17-20. For example, between 1988 and 1995, although plaintiff's
typical work hours were from 10:00 a.m. to 6:30 pseeid. at 26:14-18, she was allowed to
“work a reduced scheduled. at 27:2-3, and “when [she] was ready to [go] back to full time,”

id. at 27:4-5, she could do so without incident because she “remairjafifiril-time position,”

id. at 27:6. At one point, an administrative officer “would literally do a personnehdot

reduce [her] schedule and then a personnel action to bring itdadktime.” Id. at 28:17-19.

In another position, beginning in 1995, &.32: 78, plaintiff “had flexibility,” although she

could not recall whether she was allowed to shift between a full time scheduleezhated

work schedule, id. at 33:9Ske could work late and leave foredicalappointment&s necessary
without any objection from her supervisogegid. at 33:11-17.

While working at thehe Office of the Commissioner of Social Servibeginning in
1996,seeid. at 35:9-20Minter’s work hoursstill were from 10:00 a.m. to 6:30 p.reeeid. at
37:4-6, but when she “asked to go on a reduced work scheshaeglaims‘they shipped [her]
off to another offic€,id. at 37:940. At that point, plaintiff was told “to report to YSAgth
Youth Services Administration.”_ld. at 38:3—4. According to plaintiff, “they booted fher]
and sent [her] to [YSA] because [she] asked for accommodation.” Id. at 38:12—-14. At YSA,
plaintiff reached an agreement with her supervisors to work aeddiohedule, typically taking
a day off in the middle of the week or when she scheduled medical appoint@eaid. at
48:12-22, 49:1750:18.

Minter was “detailed” to the OCME on two occasions, first in 1$@@Minter Dep.

9/18/12 at 67:20-68:1, and again in November 2001 as a Program Specialist, id. at 76:14-17;



Am. Compl. § 12. Herreduced schedule continusgeMinter Dep. 9/18/12 at 67:14-68:1,
77:6-16, notwithstanding her “attempt[s] to go back to full time,” id. at 77:8. According to
Minter, “all the players had changed [and] nobody would listen to [her] or resadnd{™78:3—
5. Working on a reduced schedule meant that plaintiff lost pay and retirement benafes, M
Dep. 11/13/12 at 198:11-1@hich “be[cameproblematic asghe was] getting older,” ict
198:19-20seeMinter Dep. 9/18/12 at 78:8—-13. It wisnter’s understanding that “the ADA
does not require [that she work] reduced schedules in an accommodation because [she was]
losing pay [and] benefits.” Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 192:7-10, 198:21-199:3.

On May 1, 2006Minter accepted a promotion to thdl-time position of Secretariat
(“Coordinator”) to the Child Fatality Review Committee (“CFRC”). Def.’stMor Summ. J.
Ex. B (Letter to plaintiff from W.L. Stokes, SR, HRS, dated April 7, 2006 and Acceplarice[
Offer of Management Supervisory Service Appointment). “The mission of the [CFBJGova
examine the circumstances surrounding and leading to child deaths for the purposefgihglenti
contributing factors and making recommendations for systemic change, in orderdeempr
service delivery to children, and possibly to reduce the number of preventable deathsllyspe
those associated with child abuse and retgldd., Ex. C (position description for Secretariat to
the Committee) at 1. This was a Management Supervisory Service paditiber “[did] not
acquire permanent status, serve[d] at the pleasure of the appointing persdrorélaahd
[could] be erminated at any time.Id., Ex. Bat L Among other duties, the Coordinator
managed the datp-day functions of the CFRC, supervised and trained CFRC staff, developed

grant applications, selected and assigned cases for review, developed reporésefn@aviews,

> During plaintiff's “detail’ to OCME,the District's Department of Human Services paid her
and continued to do so until she was hired by OCME on difiodl-basis.SeeAm. Compl. § 12
n.l.



and attended review team meetingeeid., Ex. C at 2. Sharan James, OCME'’s Fatality
Coordinator, wadlinter's immediate supervisor. Minter Dep. 9/18/12 at 190:17, 196:11-12.
Dr. Marie-Lydie Y. PierreLouis was the District's Chief Medic&8xaminerat that time and
Beverly Fields was her Chief of StafGeeMinter Dep. 11/13/12 at 197:3-6; Def.’s Mot. for
Summ. J.Ex. E at 3.

James, with whom Minterad been acquainted since 198feMinter Dep. 9/18/12 at
57:3-13, knew thatlaintiff hadsarcoidosis anthat plaintiff had arrangedraduced work
schedule before her detail to OCME beg&eelames Dep. at 29-31, 52:7-19. f her
capacity aMinter's immediate supervispshehad a number of conversations witlmter about
her purported disability, both before plaintiff accepted the Coordinator positioteiDep.
11/13/12 at 190:1P2, and “after starting the jopyhen]the discussions started again around
June or July of 2006,” id. at 191:1-3. Among the topics of tdeseissions were “the
possibility of working from home at times,” id. at 191:16-17, and “reduced schedules,” id.
191:19;see idat 192:11-193:2Minter recalled a “positive conversation about those two
options as possibilitiesjd. at 193:1-2, and believed that James thought these options
“reasonable,id. at 192:19.

James apparently “was not comfortable” with Minkerking from home, id. at 197:12—
198:1,becauséshe was concerned about security issuiels 4t 200:7, regarding “confidential
records,” James Dep. at 69:18. Based/amter’'s understanding that “the only thing [James
was] comfortable witiwas] a reduced schedule,” Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 206:2H3er
decided to “go ahead and do this for now and then . . . look at [her] other options later and

change to something else because [she did not] want to keep losing benefits,” id. at 206:5-8.



It was not clegrhowever, whethelameshad authority to approve either option. According to
Minter, Jamesneither told Minter] she didn’t have the ability [to personally implement an
accommodation], nor did she telllinter] she didn’t. But [James] agreed that it was something
[they] could negotiate, something [they] could talk about[d. at 193:13—-16. Notwithstanding
the reduced work scheduleBnter enjoyed while employed at other District offices, Staally

had no accommodation after she got the job at OCME.” James Dep. at 53:15-16. Rather, she
was “back on her fivelay work week schedule ..” Id. at 53:7-18 James “was pushing her
to put in for the accommodation,” id. at 53:20-21, and ulNieder “to talk with the ADA
coordinator, id. at 53:21-54:Dames intended to suppdinter's request for an
accommodation, id. at 54:10-12, and apparemdly under the impression tidinter likely

would have had to “to submit extensive documentation related to medical records . . . to the
ADA person.” 1d.at 54:6-8. OCME’s “ADA person” was Sharlene Williams, James Dep. at
54:1314; Minter Dep6/11/13 at 8:19-20, whoMinter believed “would formalize” her
accommodation. Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 213:22. The refeyrdameso Williams took place
“sometime around September” 2006. Id. at 202:10.

Tanya Lumpkins, M.D., who had been treatingntdr's sarcoidosis, Minter Dep.
11/13/12 at 260:8L0, prepared a letter addressed “to whom it may concern,” Minter Dep.
6/11/13 at 7:5, whicMinter intended to give to Jamad, at 9:9-10, “in anticipation that [she]
may need to go on a reduced schedule,” id. at 7:22—-8:2. The letter, dated July 12, 2006, id.
7:2-4, stated that Minteifwas] able, . . . may work a 48eur workweeK, but could not
“maintain such a schedule on a regular bdsisl”at 14:4—6. In other words, as of July 12,

2006, althougMinter was working a 40-hour work week on a regular basis, this schedule was

® Neither party included Dr. Lumpkins’ letter as an exhibit, asdill contents are unknown.
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not sustainable in Dr. Lumpkins’ opiniokeeid. at 14:9-16:10 Minter did not recall whether
she gavér. Lumpkins’letter toJames or Williams Seeid. at 8:139:16 10:17, 13:9-15.

Initially, Minter “told [Williams] about the conversation®l[nter] had with Ms. James . .
. about doing a reduced schedule.” Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 211Mier testified that
Williams’ regponse was that there were not “any pieme positions at OCME, and part time
[was] not a reasonable accommodatiold” at 211:6—-8. Williams was “to look into some things
and . ..come back and talk again.” Id. at 212:2-3. Meanwi¢er contacte other District
government offices in search of assistame@o avail See generallyd. at 212:5-218:6.

On September 25, 200@nter “slipped on the wet, newly-waxed hallway floor in the
OCME building,” Am. Compl. § 32, injuringher back[and] her left knee, and aggravate[ing]
her prior left ankle and foot injury,” id., sustained in 2005 when she “tripped over office
equipment power cords,” fell, and “injured her left ankle and foot.Y tR;seeDef.’s Mot. for
Summ. J.Ex. D (Letter to plaintiff from Sharan D. James dated April 5, 2007) at 1; Mba&pr
11/13/12 at 138:1419. Minter described the injury to “the wheside from [her] left side to
[her] foot,” Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 138:14, as “a sciatic nerve injury on both sidemédis
much more involved than the other,” &t.138:17#19. Shesought and obtained disability
compensation, presumably worker's compensation benfelisying this injury. Def.’s Mot.
for Summ. J.Ex. D at 1.Minter stated that the injuries she faiged on September 25, 2006
madethe fatigue and difficulty sitting, standing, and walking as a result afdrepidosismuch
more intense,to the point that even lifting records from a file cabinet caus[ed] a lot of pain for
[her] back.” Minter Dep. 1/.3/12 at 190:29; 20: 3-9.

Minter's conversations with Williams continued after her workplace injuryatid.

203:12-13, aMinter recalled having “asked [Williams] about the injury as an additional



component of the accommodation,” id. at 203153—Neither James nor Williams was inclined
to address an accommodation ptaintiff's alleged disability together witherworkplace injury
(and resulting worker’s compensation claing. at 221:4-11; James Dep. at 60:14-61:4.
According toMinter, Williams told her that the “accommodation for Werk Comp is not
related to [her] other accommodation,” Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 291&d Williams thereafter
“refused to even discuss” the worker’'s compensation claim, id. at 22iibter “didn’t even
know how to separate the two, because . . . it's the same isgberldr Id. at 221:12-14.
James believed that Mintsriliness or whatever was requiring her to be away from the office
increasingly more was related to the Workmen’s Cdmep fall, na her ADA issues.” James
Dep. at 61:1-4.

FromMinter’s perspective, her conversations with Williams were not fruitful. When
plaintiff inquired about a reduced schedule, “which would have meant working less than 40
hours per week,” Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 22@,7/Williamsmaintainel that there were not “any
parttime positions at OCME, and part time [syaot a reasonable accommodation.” ad.
211:6-7;seeid. at 218:10-11. Further, according tMinter, Williams questioned whether
plaintiff “even ha[d] an illness,id. at 219:16, and directédinter to “bring . . . all [her] medical
records,” in ordefor Williams to “decide whetler [Minter had] a disability; id. at 219:16-17.
They had reached “an impasse” without coming to any agreement about an accommodation. Id.
at 247:5. IMinter was not “fit for duty,” Williams allegedly toltierthat she should “file for
disability.” Id. at 219:12-13%ee id.at 255:19-21.

On December 1, 2006, Williansent an ematio Minter encouraging héfto keep the

appointment [she] made with [Williams] for December 5, 2006 at 2:00 p.m.” D&dtsfor

" Williams testified that “a paiime position is not a reasonable accommodation . . . because
you loseall your benefits and everything.” Williams Dep. at 7411%
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Summ. J.Ex. H (email message to plaintiff from Sharlene Williams dated Deae2€06).
Williams' email futher stated:

This is to follow up on our telephone conversation yesterday concerning your

medical conditions and how they should be addressed.

My advice to you is to keep the appointment you made with me for December 5,

2006 at 2:00 p.mYou are clearly aving difficulty in determining where to go or

how to handle your situation. Without a meeting where we can discuss your

condition(s) and claims, | am unable to assist you, even as to the proper forum for

addressing your claims. . . . As the ADA comptiamfficer, my advice is that

you keep our appointment and allow me to assist you. The agency is unable to

accommodate you for a condition about which you have not informed us.

Id., Ex. H. “This is the same daMinter] went to EEOC,’id. at 230:19where she completed

an Intake Questionnaire charging discrimination based on her disability, Ndeperl1/13/12t
236:8-22; 246:12—-13%eeDef.’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. K (Intake Questionnaire) at 3 (page
numbers designated by the Court}linter explained that she has a disability requiring minimal
accommodation, yet the District “made little progress to allow flekyili scheduling to
accommodate [her] needs for reduced hours and/or work at home (telework) withdtiiggé&na
Id., Ex. K at 3. A handwritten note below her signature stated her “wish to consult with a[n]
EEO specialist regarding the possible filing of chargelsl”, Ex. K at 4.

ThereafterMinter had no more “face to face [meetings] with [Williams].” Minter Dep.
at 250:4-5. She did correspond with Williams by email, and again inquired whether both the
worker’'s compensation claim and her accommodation request could be addrestet.tog
Def.’s Mot. for Summ. JEX. H (email message to Williams from plaintiff dated Deben#,
2006). Williams responded:

| do not know if the two claims can be addressed together. It would depend on

the status of the Workman’s Comp claim. If the Workman’s Comp claim is still

effective and the medical recommendations for accommodationpate date,

then probably, yes. However . . ., | cannot answer that question without having
knowledge of your ADA and Workman’'s Comp claims and your doctor(s)’



recommendations for accommodation . . . . After | learn what your claims are and
what accommdations are needed, | will be better able to answer your question|.]

Id., Ex. H (email to plaintiff from Williams dated December 4, 2006).

Minter did not meet with Williams on December 5, 2006, appardé@tause meeting
Minter attended took longer thaexpected.SeePl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 8 (email from plaintiff to
Williams dated December 5, 2006). Williathensent an email to Mintén error— it was
intended for James stating, “FYI. This if for youfJames’Jrecords, in casfMinter] approaches
you to complain that she cannot get any help. She did not come to our meeting as | réquested.
Id., Ex. 8 (email from Williams to plaintiff dated December 5, 200@inter expressed concern
“that this [was] becoming an adversarial process,” even though she had “no desine o0 b
battle” with Williams. I1d., Ex. 8 (email from plaintiff to Williams dated December 5, 2006.
Williams respondd, “I am sorry that you believe noffer to assist is adversaridl and when
you are ready, please feel free to see nié.,”Ex. 8 (email from Williams to plaintiff dated
December 5, 2006).

Although Williams requested medical information and a doctor’'s recommendations for
an accommoation, Minter did not recall whether she had actuallg\pded this information
SeeMinter Dep. 11/13/12 at 251:21-256:5; 258:14—-3heclaimedthat “they already had [her]
information,”id. at 252:2—3, or rathehat“information regarding the Workers’ Compensation

was available to [Williams] the whole timad. at 252:89; see id.at 253:21254:6. Minter

contended in her depositidinat Williams “wanted all [her] medical informationid. at 255:12—
13, whichMinter “did not provide,”id. at 153:2, lpcauseshebelieved Williams “had no right to
all [her] medical recordsd. at 252:21-22.

From unspecified dates in December 2006 through JanuaryM0@ér took leave on

the advice of doctorwhich apparently was connectedherworker'scompensatio claim for
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injuries sustained on September 25, 2086eMinter Dep. 11/13/12 at 140:126; 142:18,;
261:8-18; 262:4263:7. She was to continue working a 40-hour work week, id. at 261:16-21,
and apparently did so through the end of February 2007, id. at 262:14-22.

By the end of February 2007, becalater still “was having a lot of pain,” icat
263:18-19, she took additional leave with the understanding that this period would be covered
through worker's compensation benefitee idat 264:3—-14% Dr. Levitt, who completed an
independent medical examinationMinter in April 2007 for the purposes of her worker’s
compensatiomlaim, cleareder to return to workSee idat 264:15265:3; 275:2-8. She chose
not to return to work, howeveéip]ecause [she] wasn’t getting any medical care or treatment|,
and she] was still having lots of painld. at 268:7—8. At that poinkinter understood that she
would be using her annual and sick leave, and thereafter would take leave witholgk pay.
268:17-269:1.

On April 5, 2007, James sedinter a letter regardingerleave status. See generally
Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. D. Based on thedical certifications James had received, Minter
had used 18 out of 21 days of leave authorizexnnection witrher September 25, 1006
workplace injuryand resulting worker’'s compensation claird., Ex. D at 1. Without additional
documentation, James stated tkliiter could not apply any leave to cover the additional days
she had been absend., IEx. D at 1.Jamesasked thaMinter provide “supporting medical
documentation to cover the current and projected seven (7) week period of absencey(Eébruar

through April 13, 2007),” and further requested that&imaplete an “Application for Leave

8 Minter declined to return to work on the verbal instruction of an unidentified claimsiream
who presumably was the individual who handled her worker’'s compensation nG&édinter
Dep. 11/13/12 at 263:364:14; 266:5267:18.
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form officially requesting any uncovered leave to be applied to Leave Without Pay.” Id., Ex. D
at 2.

Meanwhile, m April 18, 2007, the EEOC sehtinter a letter with “six (6) copies of the
charge of discrimination,” informing her thédfijn order for the [EEOC] to investigate [her]
allegations, [she] must sign and date these documents and return them,” as “[t]ltpileas re
that charges of discrimination be filed with us within 300 days (in some cases 18@ralayte
date the alleged discriminatoagtion occurred.”_Id., Ex. L (Letter from Jacqueline Queirolo,
Intake Officer, Washington Field Office, EEOC, dated April 18, 200/nter signed the EEOC
Charge of Discrimination on October 19, 2007. Id., Ex. M (Charge of Discrimina@ynApril
28, 2007, shbéad exhausted her sick leave and annual leBe¢.’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. E
(Letter from Fields to plaintiff dated May 7, 2007) at 2. On May 7, 2007, Fields nddfradr
that, “[b]ased on [her] injury and absences from the office as of September 25, 200@ayshe
have qualifiegifor medical leave pursuant to the federal Family and Medical Leave Act
(‘FMLA’) and District of Columbia Family and Medical Leave Act (‘(DCFMLA).Id., Ex. E at
1. Fields’ letter further advisddinter that, “[ijn order to determine whether [her] absence . . .
gualifie[d] as medical leave, OCME require[d] that [her] healthcare provider etarigl
medical certification and return it to the OCME no later than May 22, 2007.” Id., EX.E at

In late May orearly June2007,seeMinter Dep. 11/13/12 at 279:4-8linter spoke with
Fields and Williams by telephonig, at 279:9-10, and durirthe call Williamsallegedlytold
her that she could not return to OCME if she was “not fit for duty."ai@80:19.Minter
summarized Williams’ statement as follows:

If you can’t come to work, then you should just go on disability. She repeated to

me OCME doesn’t have any pdirhe positions. So you canttbecause | went

through the same scenario that | had hambnvesations that | had with her back
in the fall, and she repeated those.
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Id. at 280:21281:5. By “disability,” Minter understood Williams to mean “Social Security
disability.” Id. at 281:21-22.

Because OCME had not received “the required supportingcaletrtification,” James
again requested “medical certification to for [Minsgabsence from duty since February 26,
2007.” Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. F (Letter from to plaintiff dated June 14, 2007). In
addition, James directédinter, by June 20, 2007, “to either report to duty or provide [OCME]
with the certification needed to support [her] continued absence from duty.” Id., Ex. F. On June
20, 2007, Am. Compl. § 50Jinter sentby faxJames “a doctor’s statement,” Minter Dep.
11/13/12 at 273:1,Grom neurologistMichael E. Batipps, M.D.“saying that [she] was totally and
temporarily disabled from the injury,” id. at 273:12—&e id. at 273:19—22. While Dr.
Batippsassessed thataintiff wastotaly disabled for an indefinite perioBef.’s Mot. for
Summ. J.Ex. G,Minter informed James thahe “believed [she] could come back to work [in]
Septembet®® Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 273:1%8-

Minter then received ktter dated July 24, 2007 notifying her that her termination would
become “effective at the close of business, Wednesday, August 8, 2007.” Def.’s Momfar Su

J., Ex. N (Letter to plaintiff dated July 24, 2007) at'1According to Fields’ deposition

® Michael Batipps, M.D., declarédinter totally disabled for an indefinite period beginning on
September 26, 2006. Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. G (Disability Certificate dated June 19, 2007) (filed under
seal) Although Dr. Batippshandwritten comments are partially illegible, the repadicated
thatsarcoidosis was not the cause of plaintiff's disability.

19 Minter testified that she attached to the Disability Certificate a cover letter statitigoper

to return by the beginning of September [2007], depending on present treatment.” Pl.’s Opp’n,
Pl.’s Statement of Facts at ;1see Minter Dep. 11/13/12 at 273:2%2. The cover letter was not
included among plaintiff's exhibits, however, and it is not part of the record on symmar
judgment.

Y The July 24, 2007 letter apparently is a peme letter, yet only the first page (which bears

no signature) is attached as an exhibit to defendant’'s memorargkebef.’s Mot. for Summ.

J, Ex. N.
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testimony Minter was terminated becaugsetwithstanding the agency’s requests for
“certification from a doctortating, this is why inter was] out of the office and this is the
length of time [she] will be out of the office,” the agency “didn’t receivelangt. . . from any
type of physician, or anyone for that matter, includigter] herself.” Fields Dep. at 92:12—
18. She further testified:

Q. [RobertDeBerardinis Assistant Attorney General, District of Colunmpia
And so there came a point where a decision was made that enoughgh.enou
Would that be fair to say?

A. [Beverly Fields, Chief of Staff to th@istrict of Columbias Chief Medical
Examinet Yes.

Q. Who made that decision?

A. | think we collectively did, the supervisor, Sharan James, | and the general
counsel, Sharlene Williams. And I'm pretty sure we had talked to DCHR, and it
may have been legal counsel there that Sharlene may have interacted with just to
get some more advice on how to handle this situation, and it came —

Q. When you say “handle this situation,” what are you talking about?

A. What do we do? We have to have work done. We’'re not getting any
response from the employee for months, and the employee is not reporting to
work. So, the agency has to have the work done and with all of the efforts that we
made taattempt to get documentation from the employee, hear from the employee
about what was going on with her, we had to make a decision to move forward so
that we could get the work done.

Q. Was there any other reason thdtrter] was terminated?

A. No.

Id. at 93:15-94:19The EEOC issueMlinter a rightto-sue letterwhich shereceived on
December 22, 2009. Am. Compl. { 56.

Minter filed this action orMarch 22 2010 under thADA, the Rehabilitation Acee29
U.S.C. 8§ 79%t seq. and the District of Columbia Human Rights Act (“DCHRASgeD.C.
Code 8 2-140%&t seq SeeAm. Compl. T 2. Specifically, slaleges that the District failed to
provide hemareasonable accommodation for her disability, namely, a flexible work sehedul
permission to work from home one or two days per week (Counts | and Il), and dischariged her

retaliationfor having requestean accommodatiofCount Ill), in violation of the ADA. She
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further alleges that these same actiefalure to provide aeasonable accommodation for her
disability and retaliatory dischargeviolated the Rehabilitation Act (Counts IV and V). Lastly,
plaintiff alleges that the aboveaentioned actions and retaliation in the form of terminating her
for having requested aocommodation and having filed a charged@fcriminationviolated the
DCHRA (Count VI). She demands “back pay, injunctive relief, reinstatement of &ivite
status, reinstatement of all annual and sick leave, reinstatement of benefitategiant ofher]
employment, attorneys’ fees and court costs, and such other equitable relief agrtree@ms
appropriate.” Am. Compl. 2.
. Standard of Review

The District moves for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56 of the FederabRules
Civil Procedure.“The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgmenratses ain
law.” Fed. R .Civ. P. 56(a). A party asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuinely disputed must
support the assertion by “citing to particular parts of materials in tledseacluding
depositions, documents . . . affidavits or declarations, stipulations . . . , admissions, [or
interrogatory answers|, or by] showing that the makecited do not establish the absence or
presence of a genuine dispute, or that an adverse party cannot produce admissibletevidence
support the fact.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1). “If a party fails to properly support artiasof
fact or fails toproperly address another party’s assertion of fact as required by Rule 56(c), the
court may . . . consider the fact undisputed for purposes of the motion.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

When considering a motion for summary judgment, the Court may not neakbility
determinations or weigh the evidence; the evidence must be analyzed in the liglavaoradble

to the nonmoving party, with all justifiable inferences drawnenfévor. Anderson v. Liberty
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Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986)f material facts are at issue, or, though undisputed, are

susceptible to divergent inferences, summary judgment is not available.” MoagmaH,

571 F.3d 62, 66 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (citation omittedet, themere existence of a factual dispute
does not bar summary judgme@eeAnderson, 477 U.S. at 2480nly disputes over facts that
might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly preclueeatttyeof
summary judgment.’ld. The adverse party must “do more than simply show thed thesome

metaphysical doubt as to the material fadtédtsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.,

475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986), and cannot rely on conclusory assertions without any factual basis in

the record to create a genuine dispateAss’n of Flight Attendants CWA v. U.S. Dep't of

Transp., 564 F.3d 462, 465-66 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
[I1.  Analysis

A. Timeliness of Plaintiff laims

i Failureto-Accommodate Claim Under the ADA

A plaintiff bringing an employment discrimination claim under the ADA first nfilesta
charge of discrimination “within a specified period . . . after the alleged tuilamployment

practice occurred.’Hodge v. United Airlines666 F. Supp. 2d 14, 20 (D.D.C. 2009) (quoting

Ledbetter v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., Inc., 550 U.S. 618, 623-24 (268&)aiso Marshall

v. Fed. Express Corp., 130 F.3d 1095, 1098 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (“Before bringing suit in federal

court, ADA plaintiffs, like those under Title VII, must exhaust their adminiseatmedies by
filing an EEOC charge and giving the agency a chance to act off iQ)dinarily, a plaintiff

must file her charge of discrimination “within one hundred and eighty days afteteedal

12 procedures applicable to Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, as amepded? U.S.C. §
2000eet seg. including the limitations perioget forth in 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5, apply to actions
brought under the ADAsee42 U.S.C. § 12117(a).
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unlawful employment practice occurred . . . , except that in a case of an unlawful esqioym
practice with respect to which the person aggrieved has initially instittdedgalings with a
State or local agency with authority to grant or seek relief from such practice.’S42.18
2000e5(e)(1). Because the District’s Office of Human Rights (“DCOHR”) has a worknghar
agreement with the EEOC, a claim filed with one agency is deemed to have beditectogth

the other._See, e.d.ee v. District of Columbia733 F. Supp. 2d 156, 161 (D.D.C. 2010);

Kornegay v. AT&T, 579 F. Supp. 2d 34, 37 (D.D.C. 2088 als&chuler v. Pricewaterhouse

Coopers, LLP, 514 F. 3d 1365, 1372 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (analyzing “the worksharing agreement,
which the EEOC, acting in accordanc#ha?9 C.F.R. § 1626.10, has signed with the DCOHR?").
In the District of Columbia, then, a plaintiff enjoys a longer period — 300 days — within which t

file a charge of discriminationSeelee, 733 F. Supp. 2d at 160; Tucker v. Howard Univ. Hosp.,

No. 10¢v-756, 2011 WL 52863, at *3 (D.D.C. Jan.ZD11) (In the District of Columbia, an
EEOC charge must be filed within 300 days of the date of the alleged discriminatiijt’the
employee does not submit a timely EEOC charge, [she] may not chalegeactice in
court.” Ledbetter 550 U.S. at 624 (citing 42 U.S.C. 8§ 200R#{1)).

In Counts | and Il of the Amended Complaiktinter alleges that the District failed to
provide her reasonable accommodation for her disability, namely, a reduced schedule or
permission to work from home one or two days per week, in violation of the A2A.
generallyAm. Comp. 11 61-69, 71-76. The Distrargues that plaintiff's ADA claim was not
timely filed. See generallpef.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 2@3. It asserts that the latest date on
which her claim could hauwgpenedis December 5, 2006ge idat 22, when Williams “repeated
that paritime is not a reasonable accommoddtidrAm. Compl. { 40, after whicMinter had

no further discussions regarding her request for an accommodation. Assuming thatdhg 300-
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limitations period began to run on December 5, 2006, plaintiff's fatloieecommodee claim
under the ADA is viable only if she filed her charge of discrimination with the EEOC lmjpérct
1, 2007+ Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 22. Review of the charge, however, reveals that it was
not filed until October 19, 2007See id. Ex. M at 1.

Minter counters that she filed a charge of discrimination on December 1, 2006, and
therefore it was timely filed with the EEOC within 300 days, that ig,(ictober 1, 2007 See

generallyPl.’s Opp’n at 17-21. She relies on Fed. Express Corp. v. ldolavb52 U.S. 389

(2008), to support her argument that she “lodged her charge of discrimination on Detember
2006, through her EEOC intake questionnaire, which itself constitutes a ‘charge of
discrimination,” Pl.’s Opp’n at 17-18. The Intaiiestionnaire, she contends, “detail[s]
discrimination occurring in September, November, and December of 2006,” and therefore, any
“[d]iscriminatory acts occurring thereafter are thus properly part of [her] ¢ldidn at 19. That
shefiled her actuatCharge of Discrimination” on October 19, 2007, she argues, is not
dispositive. _Id.

The Supreme Court consigerinHolowecki whether an “Intake Questionnaire”
constitutes a “charge” for purposes of the Age Discrimination in EmploymentAREA”),
see?29 U.S.C. § 62&t seq.While mindful ofthe admonition that “employees and their counsel
must be careful not to apply rules applicable under one statute to a diffetatet without
careful and critical examinationfolowecki, 552 U.S. at 393, ti@out concludes that the
Supreme Court’s analysis in Holoweekso appliesn the context of an ADA claim._See, e.g.,

Beckham v. National R.R. Passenger Corp., 590 F. Supp. 2d 82, 86 (D.D.C. 2008) (applying

13 The Court presumes a typographical error in the Districesorandum identifying the
operative date as December 5, 2Q&Def.’s Mem. at 22and proceeds as if the operative date
is December 5, 2006.
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Holowecki in the context of race discriminatiordametaliation claims under Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act “because of the similarities between the statutory schemes of the &RE
Title VIl concerning exhaustion of administrative remedies”).

In Holowecki, the claimant submitted to the EEOC an Intake Questionnaire (B8)m 2
and “attached to the questionnaire a signed affidavit describing the allegeidsry
practices in greater detail.” 552 U.S. at 394. Even though the questionnaire complied with
certain minimum requirements set forthregulationsee29 C.F.R. 88 1626.6 and 1626.8, the
Supreme Court “accept[ed] the agency’s position that the regulations do ndyidinti
necessary components of a charge; and it follows that a document meeting the retgpisEmen
[the regulations] is ot a charge in every instancedolowecki 552 U.S. at 397. Where,
however, a document not only meets the minimal requirements set forth by regulaatsobut
can be “reasonably construed as a request for the agency to take remedial acti@ctder
employee’s rights or otherwise to settle a dispute between the employer and thyeerigl. at
402, it qualifies as a charge of discrimination. And “[t]he filing of a charge . . . detesrmine
when the [ADEA's] time limits and procedural mechanisms commeride 4t 404. In
Holowecki, theintake questionaire and supporting affidavit read together were found to be a
request for agency action “to activate its machinery and remedial procédsats402,
particularly because “the completed questionnaire . . . was supplemented wittea detpage
Affidavit” in which the complainant “asked the agency to ‘[p]lease force Federal Express to end

their age discrimination,” a statement “properly construed as a request fageihcy to act.”
Id. at 405.
Despite certain technical deficiencies, the Court finds that Minter’s Intaksti@nnaire

substantially complies with the minimum regulatory requiremefee?29 C.F.R. § 1601.12(b).
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The Questionnaire does not, however, communicabetantion “to activate the [ADA’s]
machinery’ as required byHolowecki. The document is plainly titledr-large print-“Intake
Questionnaire.” Nowhere on the face of the questiondaies it state that it aloneas would

be deemed a chge ofdiscrimination. Consistent with the disclosure statement dimékpage,
the principal purpose of the questionnasréo provide‘information . . . relevant to filing a
charge of discrimination$o the EEOC cafmake an official determination whether facts exist
to prepare a charge of discrimination.” Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. KEté&questionnaire
does not, for example, include a box for a claimant to check staltivwgnt to file a charge of
discrimination, and | authorize the EEOC to look into the discrimination | describe alasvie,”

Leftwich v. Gallaudet Univ., 878 F. Supp. 2d 81,92 (D.D.C. 2012). It also does notlicate

that itwould be considerea chargeof discriminationif no other tmely documents were filed.

SeeTucker v. Howard Univ. Hosp., 764 F. Supp. 2d-8 {D.D.C. 2011)Hodge v. United

Airlines, 666 F. Supp. 2d 14, 2P1 (D.D.C. 2009)Beckham, 590 F. Supp. 2d87 (finding a
submission titled “Charge Questionnaire” to be sufficient where the form cléaigl shat,
without further timely filings, théorm itself would constitute a charge).

Minter did not attach a letter or separate document to the questioerpiessing her
intention to file a claim.Shemerelyaddeda handwritten notation expressing her “wish to
consult with a[n] EEO Specialist regarding tpessible filing of charges.” Def.’s Mot. for
Summ. J.Ex. K at 4 (emphasis added). This is hardly a clear and forceful demand for agency
action Othercourts in this district have foursimilar information provided on an intake form to

be insufficient to constitutenaEEOCcharge. SeeFeatherston v. District of Columbia, 910 F.

Supp. 2d 1, 5-7 (D.D.C. 2012) (“Considering . . . the lack of an explicit request that the EEOC

take remedial action for such discrimination, and the lack of textual indicattbe intake
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guestionnaire that the EEOC would take such action without a formal charggusriiebeing
filed . . . the intake questionnaire in this case does not constitute the chavigeshall v.

Honeywell Technology Solutions, In&98 F. Supp. 2d 57, 62 (D.D.C. 2009) (finding that

merely providing an allegation of discrimination and the name of employer on an intake form
does not constitute a charge under Holowecki). Even assuangugndo, thatMinter was
confused about the nature of the Intake Questionriereeceipt of correspondence from the
EEOC in April 2007, enclosing copies of the charge of discrimination and directing Igm to s
and return them in order for tliiEEOC to take any further actishould have clarified matters.
Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., EX.. The Court concludes thitinter’s Intake Questionnaire does
not manifest an intent to file a charge of discrimination, imder cannot rely on the date of its
filing, December 1, 2006, to establiskatiiner ADA charge of discrimination was timelietl

within the 300day limitations period Accordingly, the Court will grant summary judgment to
the District onMinter’s failureto-accommodate clairffCourts | and Il)underthe ADA.

ii. Failureto-AccommodateClaim Under the Rehabilitation Act

The District argues thalinter’s failure-to-accommodate claim under the Rehabilitation
Act (CountlV) is barred because she failed to file this lawsuit within the requisite yeege
limitations period.Def.’s Mot. for Summ. Jat24. Under this viewhecause plaintiff's claim
arose no later than December 5, 2006, the filing of this lawsuit on March 22, 2010, is untimely.
See id. Theparties do notlispute that a thregear limitations period applies to a claim under the

Rehabilitation Act.SeeGordon v. District of Columbia, 605 F. Supp. 2d 239, 245 (D.D.C.

2009) (holding that the District’s thrgear limitations period for personal injury claims applies

to Rehabilitation Act claims).ong v. Howard Univ., 512 F. Supp. 2d 1, 12 (D.D.C. 2007)

(holding that threeyear period applies to claims under Rehabilitation Act and AB#&Y, 550
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F.3d 21 (D.C. Cir. 2008)NonethelesaMiinter counters that she was required to administratively
exhaust her Rehabilitation Act claim, and “[b]Jecause [she] did netwe her right to sue letter
[from the EEOC] until December 22, 2009, her . . . claims are timely under the Rekahili
Act.” Pl.’sOpp’n at 23.

As Minter acknowledges, however, whether administrative exfauistrequired‘prior

to commencing suit under 8 794 remains an unsettled question in this juristidtiams v.

D.C., 740 F. Supp. 2d 173, 181 (D.D.C. 2010). To be ddister is correct thaseveral courts

in this district have held that plaintiffs must exhaust administrative remedme hiéihg a suit

under theRehabilitationAct. See, e.g.Ellis v. Georgetown Univ. Hos631 F.Supp.2d 71, 75
(D.D.C. 2009) (plaintiffs suing a non-federal employer under 8 794 of Rehabilitation A&, “lik
those under Title VII, must exhaust thadministrative remediey” Yet, the Court finds that
Adams 740 F. Supp. 2d 173, embodies there persuasiviaterpretation of th&ehabilitation
Act’s remedy requirements. Adams the Court comprehensivelgviewed theconflicting
casesn thisdistrict concerning this issy@nd, based on the text astductureof the 1992
amendments to Section 794tbé Rehabilitation AgtPub. L. No. 102-569, 106 Stat. 4344,
concluded that the ADA’s exhaustion requirement does ndy &pRehabilitation Act clairs.

Id. at 181-82. Specifically, the Court ilddamsnoted that the 1992 amendments provided that

the ““[t]he standards used to determine whef{Bection 794] has been violated in a complaint ...
shall be the standards applied under title | of the [ADA].” 740 F. Supp. 2d aWiRile

“[s]Jome courts have interpreted the ‘standards’ of the ADA to include theeimpwemedies, and
procedures’ that the ADMcorporates from Title VII, including Title VII's requirement that a
plaintiff exhaust his or her administrative remedies,” others have “reasoned ti@bingess

intended to amend the Rehabilitation Act so as to incorporate the ‘powerdjegsnaad
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procedures’ of the ADA, it would have done so expresdig.’at 181-82. The latter cases
contend that “Congress was simply ensuring that all employees governed by fesddmisitydi

anti-discrimination law were subjected to the same liability requirenietewart 2006 WL

626921at *10, and emphasiZéhe fact that the Rehabilitation Act explicitly incorporates Title

VI's ‘remedies, procedures, and rights’ into § 794, rather than those of TitleAdHrhs 740 F.

Supp. 2d at 182. This Court agrees, and holds that “the ADA's exhaustion requirement does not
apply to the Rehabilitation Act” Id. While theD.C. Circuit has not addressed the issue since

the 1992 amendments, every other Circuit to confront it has held likewisat 182 n. 8 (citing

Freed v. Conso. Rail Corp., 201 F.3d 188, 192 (3d Cir.2000) (collecting kases)
Further, thdimitations periodn the employment discrimination conteldes not toll
when a plaintiff chooses, but is not requiredexhaust her administrative remedies before

initiating a lawsuit as Minter did hereSeeJohnson v. Ry. Express Agency, Inc., 421 U.S. 454,

461 (1975) Adams 740 F. Supp. 2d at 1§2ollecting cases)ConsequentlypecauséMinter did
not file her Rehabilitation Act claim within the thrgear limitations periodthe Court findghat
it was timebarred.

iii. Failureto-Accommodate ClainAlleging the District Failed to Fulfill Its
Role in the Interactive Process

The District also moves for summary judgmentplaintiff's failure to accommodate
claims because, it contends reasonable jury could find that the governnaighinot fulfill its
role in theinteractive process. See generdlif.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 27-3®Jinter
counterssee generalll.’s Opp’n at 2430, that there remain disputed issues of material fact as
to its compliance.

The interactive process solely requitésat employers make a goddith effort to seek

accommodations.”_Taylor v. Phoenixville Sch. Dist., 184 F.3d 296, 317 (3d Cir. 1899).
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courts in this district have notedefmployers can show their good faith in a number of ways,
such as taking steps like the following: meet with the employee who requests mmacizgion,
request information about the condition and what limitations the employee has, askliyeem
what he or she specifically wants, show some sign of having considered employee'saaduest
offer and discuss available alternatives when the request is too burdén¥dowalruff v.

LaHood, 777 F. Supp. 2d 33, 41-42 (D.D.C. 2011) (quoting Tay& F.3cat 317). The

District appears to have taken manif not all —of these steps, and Minter fails to cite any
binding authority explaining why its actions did not constitute good faith under Woodruft.
Consequently, this Court finds that no reasonable jury could findhea&istrictdid not fulfill

its role in the interactive process

B. Whether Plaintiff Is a “Qualified Individual with a Disability”

In the alternative, the District argues that plaintiff's failure to accommodtktascunder

Titles 1 and Il of the ADA (Counts | and I§nd under the Rehabilitation A@ount IV) must
fail because plaintiffs not a “qualified individual” whose disalti§i must be accommodated.
See generallpef.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 36—37. The standard applied to each claim is the
same:

In order to make out a prima facie case, a plaintiff must show: (1)

that she was an individual who had a disability within the nmgan

of the statute; (2) that the employer had notice of her disability; (3)

that with reasonable accommodation she could perform the

essential functions of the position; and (4) that the employer

refused to make such accommodations.

Gordon v. District of Columbia, 480 F. Supp. 2d 112, 115 (D.D.C. 2007) (citations omitted)

(emphasis added)The parties do not dispute that plaintiff has a disability, which for purposes of

this discussion is defined as:
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(A) a physical or mental impairment that substantilaiyts one or

moremajor life activities of such individual;

(B) a record of such an impairment; or

(C) being regarded as having such an impairment[.]
42 U.S.C. § 12102(1) (emphasis addedg29 U.SC. § 705(9)(B):* Major life activities
include walking, standing, lifting, bending and working. 42 U.S.C. §12102(2)(A). A
“reasonable accommodation” includesaking existing facilities used by employees readily
accessible to and usable by individuals with disabiliteesd] job restructuring, patime or
modified work schedules.” 42 U.S.C. § 12111(9).

Generally, Title | of the ADA provides that “[njmvered entity shall discriminate
against a qualified individual on the basis of disability in regard tthe. hiring, advancement,
or discharge of employees, employee compensation . . ., and other terms, conditions, and
privileges of employment.” 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a). For purposé&glefl, a “qualified
individual” means‘an individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation pegfiorm
the essential functions of the employment position that such individual holds or desires. 42
U.S.C. § 12111(8jemphasis added)

Under Title 1l of the ADA, ‘ho qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of
such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of theesgrvic
programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by amestiy.”
42 U.S.C. 812132The term “qualified individual with a disability” means

an individual with a disability who, with or without reasonable
modifications to rules, policies, or practices, the removal of

architectural, communication, or transportation barriers, or the
provision of auxiliary aids and servicesyeets the essential

4 Minter's termination occurred before the ADA Amendments Act of 2008 became effective
on January 1, 2009, and the amendments therefore do not apply retroactively in thieease.
Lyles v. D.C. Water and Sewer Auth., 572 F.3d 936, 942 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
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eligibility requirements for the receipt of services or the
participation in programs or activities provided by a public entity.

42 U.S.C. § 12131(Qpmphasis added)

The District argues that, based on Dr. Batipps’ Disability Certifiddteter is not a
qualified individud because her total disability for an indefinite duration prevented her from
either performing essential functions of her position as CFRC Coordoratmegeting essential
eligibility requirements for government services or programs, with or without anagale
accommodation. Because of her total disability “for an indefinite period of timeashetmow

contend that she was a ‘qualified individual,” and therefore, “her claimsiloré to
accommodate must be dismisse®&f.’s Mot. for Summ. Jat 37.

Minter responds with two arguments. First, she asserts that Dr. Batijgaddildy
Certificate “is not directly relevant to [her] disability under the ADA, as it is writtenguSiocial
Security Disability Income benefits terminology that carrié#farent meaning.” Pl.’s Opp’n at

30. It is plaintiff's burden to address any discrepancy between a disability for pugigsies

(meaning that she can still function with or withoesisonable accommodation) and a disability

for purposes of &ial Searity disability benefits SeeCleveland v. Policy Management Sys.
Corp., 526 U.S. 795, 807 (19990 denying the District’'s motion to dismiss, the Court
explicitly gave Minter “the opportunity to do so in this case.” Mem.&@pl (Mar. 9, 2012). In
the face of Dr. BatippdDisability Certificate,Minter mustproffer “an explanation of any
apparent inconsistency with the necessary elements of an ADA ciaidi[t]o defeat summary
judgment, that explanation must be sufficient to warrant a reasonable jurofsdiogdhat,
assuming the truth of, or the plaintiff's go@alth belief in, the earlier statement, the plaintiff
could nonetheless perform the essential functions of her job, with or without rdasonab

accommodation.”_Cleveland., 526 Ug807. (internal quotation marks omittegeeSolomon
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v. Vilsack 628 F.3d 555, 562 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (finding that, “[s]ince a reasonable jury could find
that [employee’s] statements in support of her [application for disability bdreeBtsonsistent
with her current contention that she could have worked . . . if afforded reasonable
accommodations, neither her accommodation claim nor her retaliation claimseateded”).
Because Mintefails to offer an alternative interpretation of the Disabilrtificate,she fails to
meet her burden on summary judgment.

SecondMinter contends that she has produtedcontroverted evidence that disputes
the District’s position that she was able to perform the position while on loan @Ol with
an accanmodation.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 30. This evidence principally is deposition testimony
regarding plaintiff's performance in positions held years before she became the CFR
Coordinator. Missing from plaintiff's submission is any discussion or crediblaraioin that
her ability toperform, for exampleas a Program Specialist while detailed to OCME999 and
2001 while working a reduced work schedule demonstrates her ability to perform ak tingeful
CFRC Coordinator from May 1, 2006 forward.

Further, Mnter’'s experts shed little additionlaht on the connection between a reduced
32-hour per week schedule and plaintiff's ability to perform her daigSFRC Coordinatat
all. A neurologist merely suggestthat patients with symptoms like plaintiff's “can benefit
from workplace accommodations, especially during disease exacerbations,” bubtdoes n
describe what those accommodations might be for such patients in generdflimtéoin
particdar. Pl’'s Op’n Ex. 5 at 6. A vocational expert concluded that “working one to two days
at home per week or a flexible work schedale reasonable accommodatiphst does not
explain why these accommodations would enable Mspecificallyto perform her dutiesPl.’s

Opp’n Ex. 6 at 6. In fact, Minter has provided no deposition testimony or any other evidence

27



linking her diagnoses and symptoms to her ability or inability to perform her dé&ies

example, if plaintiff's ability to sit, stand and walk is lindtenothing in the record explains how
much sitting, standing and walking would be required of her, or how the accommodations she
requested address or otherwise alleviate her symptaihthat is on the record is Dr. Batipps’
Disability Certificate, whiclsuggests that Minter is totally disabled for an indefinite period. Her
position description includes tasks such as supervising, training and evaluafingatafying

the dayto-day activities of the CFR@&nd attending team meetings and other relebabt
governmentinternal review§]” Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J.Ex.C at 2-3, butMinter has not
provided evidence of how she could fulfill these dutieish or without reasonable
accommodation” as required under the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 1211 é)e wadotally disabled

for an indefinite period. Thushe Court finds thato reasonable jury could find thdinter is a
gualified individual with a disabilityunderTitles | and Il of the ADA.

C. Plaintiff's Retaliation Claims

The Districtalsomoves for summary judgment on plaintiffataliation claims under the
ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and the DCHRAee generallfpef.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 37—
42. Becausehe District puts forth an explanation for its decision to terminate plaittf,
analysisproceedsas follows:

[I]f an employer asserts a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for an adverse
employment action, the district court must conduct one central inquiry in
considering armployer’'smotion for summary judgment or judgment as a matter
of law: whether the plaintiff produced sufficient evidence for a reasonablegjury t
find that the employes’ asserted nediscriminatory reason was not the actual
reason and that the employer intentionally discriminated against thefplamné
prohibitedbasis.

Adeyemi v. District of Columbia, 525 F.3d 1222, 1226 (D.C. Cir. 206i&tion omitted)
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According to theDistrict, it had a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for firiimter:
she effectivelyabandoned her jolSeeDef.’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 40. She stopped coming to
work after February 28, 2007 and April 28, 2007, she had used all of her sick leave, annual
leave, and leave authorized in connection \Wwghworker’'s compensation claim
Notwithstanding OCME’s many requeshéinter supplied nanedicaldocumentation to justify
her extended absence until she produced Dr. Batipgability Certificate declaring her totally
disabled for an indefinite period beginning September 26, 2PM@ter counterghere is a
plausible alternative exghationfor hertermination: thecontent of the medical documentation
she ultimately providedSeePl.’s Opp’n at 35. According tdlinter, the fact thathe District
made thalecision to terminatenly after receiing medical documentation confirmiriger
disability, Def.’s Mot. for Summ. Jat 41, proves that the content of the documentation
motivated her terminationPl.’s Opp’n at 35-36.

Minter's evidencealoes not showhattheDistrict’s stated motivation was pretextwadd
actuallybuttresseshe reason for termination asserted by Bistrict. The District claimsviinter
was fired forfailing to show up for work, and the content of the medical documentdiiter
providedbolstered that conclusion, astatedthat $1e would be absemtdefinitely. 1d. While
Minter has sought to permission to work from home or to work reduced hours at various times,
the medical documentation she provided indicated that she woube iadie tqperformher
work functionsat all for an indefinite period Terminationdue to a generahability to perform
is not retaliation, as the standard for faittmeaccommodate specifically requires a plaintiff to
show “that with reasonable accommodation she could perform the essentiairfsinétine

position[.]” Gordon v. District of Columbia, 480 F. Supp. 2d 112, 115 (D.D.C. 2007). In a

similar disability discrimination case, the D.C. Ciralitserved that “an essential function of any
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government job is an ability to appear for work” and affirmed the proposhet government
entities are not required to retain employees who cannot dGaso.v. Reno, 23 F.3d 525, 530
(D.C. Cir. 1994). In other wordasin this casejwhat Plaintiff [is] seekingis] an indefinite

leave period, something an employer is not required to grant[.]” Sampson v. Citibank, F.S.B., 53

F. Supp. 2d 13, 18 (D.D.C. 1999) aff'd, 221 F.3d 196 (D.C. Cir. 2000). In 8hater’'s
argument does not constititdequatevidence under th&deyemistandardhata reasonable
jury could find thathe District’s purported legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for termination
wasnot the actual reason for its decisiorhe Court therefore wiljrantsummary judgment on
Minter's retaliation claims

Accordingly, t is hereby

ORDERED that the District of Columbia’s motion for summary judgment is

GRANTED.
SO ORDERED.
o W/Z. %/m,_\
CHRISTOPHER R. COOPER
United States District Judge
Date: August 5, 2014
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